IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1837

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 4D09-1224

BOBBY LEE AKIEN

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Carlos F. Gonzalez *Counsel of Record* Margaret T. Perez Vincent W. Li DIAZ REUS & TARG, LLP 100 Southeast Second Street 2600 Miami Tower Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 375-9220 Facsimile: (305) 375-8050

Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF FACTS
STANDARD OF REVIEW
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. Florida Courts Have Routinely Excluded Testimony As Hearsay Where The Declarant Discussed The Events Giving Rise To The Excited Utterance Prior To Making the Statement
A. Excited Utterances And Reflective Thought
B. A Majority Of The District Courts Of Appeal Have Now Held That Conversations With Third Parties Render Subsequent Statements Inadmissible As Excited Utterances
C. Fashioning A New Rule
II. The 911 Phone Call Is Also Inadmissible Because It Is Narrative In Nature
III. The Fourth District Court Of Appeal Erred As A Matter Of Law And Fact In This Case
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Akien v. State,
44 So. 3d 152 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010)passim
Beck v. State,
937 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)passim
Blandenburg v. State,
890 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)
Canakaris v. Canakaris,
382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980)
Charlot v. State,
679 So. 2d 844 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
Deparvine v. State,
995 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 2008)
Green v. State,
113 So. 121 (Fla. 1927)
Hamilton v. State,
547 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 1989)
Hayward v. State,
24 So. 3d 17(Fla. 2009)
Hutchinson v. State,
882 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 2004)
J.A.S. v. State,
920 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)
Mariano v. State,
933 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)passim

<i>McDuffie v. State</i> , 970 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 2007)20
<i>Pressley v. State</i> , 968 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007)28, 29, 36
<i>Rivera v. State</i> , 718 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)31
<i>Rogers v. State</i> , 660 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1995)24
<i>State v. DiGuilio</i> , 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)
<i>State v. Jano</i> , 524 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1988)19, 23, 24, 33
<i>Stoll v. State</i> , 762 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 2000)24, 34
<i>Strong v. State</i> , 947 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)27
<u>Statutes</u> § 90.803(2), FLA. STAT
<u>Rules</u> FLA. R. APP. P. 9.210(a)(2)23
Other Authorities Edward W. Clearly, <i>McCormick on Evidence</i> , § 297 (3d ed. 1984)24

INTRODUCTION

Florida courts have adopted a clear standard for determining whether a statement constitutes an excited utterance. The burden of proof rests with the proponent. As the ultimate gatekeeper, trial courts will not admit statements as excited utterances unless the proponent can lay the proper foundation. The law further provides that where a declarant engages in "reflective thought," her statement will not be admitted as an excited utterance. Reflective thought undermines the credibility typically ascribed to true excited utterances.

Unfortunately, there is no clear standard for determining whether reflective thought has occurred. In the majority of cases, the question arises as a result of timing. Courts have grappled with the significance of the passage of time between an event and statements regarding that event. For example, the witness to a shooting or some other crime waits for a period of time before contacting the police. The impact of the passage of time becomes a factor that courts consider in determining whether reflective thought occurred. Because there is no definitive rule regarding how much time can pass before reflective thought is deemed to occur, each case requires a fact-intensive inquiry which can lead to inconsistent results.

This case, however, presents the opportunity to draw a narrow, bright line rule regarding whether a declarant has engaged in reflective thought. Unlike those

cases which turn simply on the passage of time, this case involves a declarant who first spoke to her mother before contacting the police to report a crime. A majority of Florida's district courts of appeal have ruled that a declarant's conversation with a third party is evidence of reflective thought which renders a subsequent statement inadmissible as an excited utterance. The logic behind this reasoning is simple. The impact of a third party's questions, suggestions, or personal recollections (if a witness to the event as well), can result in alterations to the statement, or a wholesale fabrication. This necessarily undermines the inherent credibility of a true excited utterance.

This case presents an ideal vehicle for creating the rule. After her sexual encounter with Petitioner Bobby Lee Akien ended, the complainant, T.S.,¹ took no action for five to ten minutes. The first call she made following the encounter was to her mother. During that call, T.S.'s mother urged her to contact the police. T.S. resisted because she claimed to be afraid. Her mother then contacted the police for her. When the police told the mother that T.S. would need to call, the mother again insisted that her daughter call 911. It was only then that T.S. relented and contacted the police. T.S.'s conversations with her mother (she may have had more than one) here, like those conversations between the declarants and other third parties in the cases considered by the majority of Florida's district courts of

¹ In this brief, the complainant is referred by her first and last initials, or "T.S."

appeal, constituted clear evidence of reflective thought which should now bar the admission of T.S.'s 911 call as an excited utterance.

STATMENT OF THE FACTS

T.S.'s Relationship With Mr. Akien. T.S. first met Mr. Akien when she was five years old. R-271.² From that time, until she accused him of rape at the age of 17, T.S. saw Mr. Akien on a regular basis. *Id.* Mr. Akien was T.S.'s neighbor, R-312, and he played an important role in her life during those early years. At trial, T.S. remembered that Mr. Akien would regularly "check on the family." R-271-72, 312. She described him as a friendly and concerned neighbor. R-312. T.S. noted that her grandmother suffered from asthma. *Id.* When the ambulance would come to their home, Mr. Akien would check in. *Id.* "Every time something was wrong with my grandmother, he'd be the type of person that would come over and be like 'Is everything okay?" R-271-72, 312.

As T.S. became older, her relationship with Mr. Akien changed. She gave him her cell phone number, R-318-19, 337, and spoke to him on her way home from school, R-316-18. T.S. noted that Mr. Akien flirted with her. R-318. Mr. Akien, according to T.S., wanted to have sex with her. *Id.* When T.S. told Mr. Akien that she wanted a car, R-317-18, he offered to help her if she would "do certain sexual things with him," R-317. T.S. claimed that Mr. Akien offered to

Citations to "R-_" refer to the record on appeal.

help her get a car if she would have sex with him two times. R-318. T.S. was not offended or otherwise put off by Mr. Akien's advances. She did not tell her mother, R-339, or anyone else, about Mr. Akien's solicitations. Rather, T.S. testified that she "blew off" Mr. Akien's comments, R-317, 339, and "would never pay any mind" to them, R-317.

T.S.'s Sexual Encounters. The day before her sexual encounter with Mr. Akien, T.S. testified that she went to school, and then worked at a local McDonald's from 8:00 p.m. to midnight. R-272-73, 320-21. T.S.'s boyfriend, Jimmy, took her home after work. R-273, 321. The couple, who first met at the McDonald's, had known each other for about one year. R-273. After T.S. finished work, Jimmy took her home. R-274-75, 321. The couple got home around 12:15 a.m. R-275. T.S.'s mother was at work and she and Jimmy were home alone. R-275-76. Although she would repeatedly lie about this important fact, T.S. ultimately conceded that she had sex with Jimmy a few hours before her encounter with Mr. Akien. R-276, 321. Jimmy left T.S.'s home around 1:30 a.m. *Id*.

After Jimmy left, T.S. explained that she locked her front door (the top and bottom locks), had something to eat, showered, and went to sleep. R-276-77, 282. T.S. identified two ways to get into her home: the front door, which she locked, R-276-77, and her bedroom window, which she would crawl through whenever she forgot her keys, R-277.

T.S. claimed that she was asleep by 2:00 a.m. R-282, 321. However, T.S. testified that she woke up a couple of hours later when she felt a single, gloved hand around her neck and heard a "strange voice." R-282, 321-22. When she tried to move, T.S. said that this gloved stranger would squeeze her neck. R-284-86, 322. There were no lights on, T.S.'s blanket covered her face and eyes, and she could see nothing. R-283-84. Although T.S. fought the intruder for about five to ten minutes, she stopped because the pressure around her neck became so strong that she thought she could not breathe. R-322. T.S. claimed that the intruder warned her to stop fighting, R-284, or he would kill her, R-286. T.S. complied. *Id.* He spoke to her in a low, scratchy voice which she did not recognize. R-284-85. T.S. recalled that the intruder also told her that there were two other individuals inside her home. R-284.

At some point, the intruder told T.S. to turn over on her back. R-286-87. Because there was a blanket over her face, she did not see anything. *Id.* With his hand still on her neck, T.S. testified that the intruder made her take off her clothes. R-287. T.S. was wearing boxer shorts and what she described as a "wife beater" t-shirt. *Id.* While the boxer shorts came off, the t-shirt was pulled up over her face. *Id.*; R-331-32. Once naked, T.S. explained that the intruder took off his shorts and got on top of her. R-287.

According to T.S., she felt his penis on top of her, but it did not immediately penetrate her vagina. Id. T.S. still could not see anything. R-288. At first, T.S. explained, the intruder could not penetrate her vagina. R-323. He attempted to do so for about five to ten minutes unsuccessfully. Id. This hurt T.S. Id. The intruder was later able to partially penetrate her, which further hurt T.S. R-324. At some point, T.S. recalled that the intruder asked her to apply some lotion to his penis. Id.; R-288, 324. He then directed her to manually stimulate him with her hand, which she did. R-288-89. This occurred for approximately five to ten minutes. R-289. T.S. further recalled that the intruder kissed her right breast. Id. After she stopped touching him, T.S. testified that the intruder forcibly penetrated her. R-289, 325. T.S. said that the intruder remained "inside of her" for thirty to forty-five minutes. Id.; R-325, 327. Her face remained covered throughout this encounter and she did not see anything. R-290. According to T.S., this was "forceful sex." R-327.

When he finished, T.S. testified that the intruder got up, but somehow kept his hand around her neck. R-290. He then grabbed T.S. by the right arm and directed her to the bathroom. R-291, 327. T.S. claimed that the intruder turned on the lights and told her to take a shower. R-291. Although she turned on the water, T.S. testified that she did not take a shower. *Id.* T.S. estimated that she was alone in the bathroom for about five minutes. R-327. After she got out of the shower,

T.S. explained that she wrapped a towel around her waist. R-291. The intruder, who remained by the door, asked if she had something around her face. *Id.* T.S. responded that she had a washcloth over her face. R-291-92. The washcloth was apparently too small, so T.S. put the towel she was wearing around her face. *Id.* Although she still could not see the intruder's face, T.S. testified that she was able to see him from the knees down, and noted that he was black. R-332-33.

While standing in the bathroom, T.S. claimed that the intruder photographed her nude body. R-292, 327-28. After he finished, T.S. claimed that the intruder asked for pen and paper. *Id.* According to T.S., the intruder directed her to write a note indicating that their sexual encounter had been consensual. R-293-94. He told her to sign and date the note. *Id.* T.S. testified that she gave the note to the intruder. *Id.* He then asked her for a plastic bag and took her bed sheets. R-294. Finally, T.S. recalled that the intruder asked for her phone number and keys. *Id.*

Before he left, T.S. claimed that the intruder warned her that if she called the police, or told anyone about what had happened, both he and his friends would hurt her family. R-294-95, 328. He then told T.S. to count to 150 so that he and his friends would have a chance to leave. R-295, 328. T.S. complied. *Id.* T.S. was still wearing a towel over her head and could not see anything. *Id.* She did, however, hear the intruder leave through the front door. *Id.* At no point did she hear any other doors open or shut. *Id.*

T.S. Engages In Reflective Thought. T.S. did not immediately contact the

police, or anyone else for that matter. Rather, T.S. explained:

. . . I locked the door after he walked out of my home, after he left my home. I heard the door shut and I went to lock the door. And then I waited for a little bit. Like I went in my room and I sat down and I cried and then I called my mother.

R-329. In fact, T.S. waited five to ten minutes to call her mother. R-296, 328-29.

When the two spoke, T.S. recalled that her mother told her to call the police. R-

295-96. Recalling the intruder's purported threats, T.S. told her mother that she

was afraid to call the police. R-297, 329. T.S.'s mother, however, insisted. Id.

Nevertheless, T.S. did not immediately dial 911; her mother was the first to call.

R-329-30. As T.S. explained:

She called 911 first and she got on the phone and she spoke to 911 and they told her that I have to speak to them. And I told her I didn't want to call because [the perpetrator] threatened. My mom was like, "No, go ahead and call." And I got off the phone with her and she called my grandmother to come from next door to come over to check on me. And then I spoke to the police after I got on the phone.

R-329.

Although it is not clear from the transcript, it would appear that T.S. spoke to her mother twice before finally dialing 911. The first conversation occurred several minutes after the intruder left her home, while the second conversation took place after T.S.'s mother called 911 and was informed that T.S. needed to personally contact the police. It was only after receiving this message, presumably during a second telephone call, that T.S. dialed 911.

The 911 Tape. At trial, the State sought to admit the 911 tape recording. R-297-98. The defense objected on the ground that there was no foundation for admitting the tape as an excited utterance. R-298. As the defense explained, the facts established that T.S. did not immediately call 911. *Id.* After the attack ended, T.S. waited five to ten minutes before doing anything. *Id.* Thereafter, the first call that she placed was not to the police, but to her mother. *Id.* It was only after speaking to her mother – and at her mother's direction – that T.S. contacted the police. *Id.*

In its response, the State ignored T.S.'s intervening conversation with her mother. Indeed, the State made no effort to establish that T.S. did not engage in any reflective thought before calling 911. Instead, the State focused on the fact that T.S. was still upset and in shock when she ultimately called the police. R-298-99. Moreover, the State minimized the significance of the amount of time that passed between the event T.S. described and her actual call:

And I submit we're not talking about hours of reflective thought here. We are talking about ten minutes in which she just testified that she called her mother, told her what happened, and then she hung up with her mom and called 911 because her mom was on the phone with 911 and she had to hang up and do it. R-299. As a result, the State surmised that T.S. did not have any time to fabricate her claims. *Id*.

The defense countered that T.S. did have the opportunity to engage in reflective though in the five to ten minutes following the intruder's departure. *Id.* The trial court overruled the defense's objection without making any specific finding that T.S. did not engage in reflective thought. R-300. Thereafter, the jurors heard T.S.'s detailed narrative of the events leading up to Mr. Akien's prosecution:

Operator:	911. What is your emergency?
T.S.:	(Unintelligible at 11:27:33).
Operator:	Okay. What's going on?
T.S.:	(Unintelligible at 11:27:37).
Operator:	Okay. What were you doing?
T.S.:	(Unintelligible at 11:27:39).
Operator:	Huh?
T.S.:	I had my face covered.
Operator:	Do you know who raped you?
T.S.:	No.
Operator:	You don't? How long ago did this happen?

Operator:	Huh?
T.S.:	It just happened.
Operator:	It just happened? How many people were there?
T.S.:	He said there were three, but I don't know.
Operator:	Was it only one person?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	White or black?
T.S.:	I think he was black.
Operator:	He was black? Can you tell me what he was wearing?
T.S.:	I didn't see him.
	I didn't see him. You didn't see him?
Operator:	You didn't see him?
Operator: T.S.:	You didn't see him? No.
Operator: T.S.: Operator:	You didn't see him? No. Did this happen there?
Operator: T.S.: Operator: T.S.:	You didn't see him? No. Did this happen there? Yes. Is there somebody knocking on her door? Is there somebody knocking on her door?

T.S.:	He made me take a shower.
Operator:	He made you take a shower?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Okay. How long ago did this happen?
T.S.:	(Unintelligible at 11:28:37)
Operator:	Okay. What's your name?
T.S.:	My name is [T.S.].
Operator:	[T.S.]?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Okay. Did he hurt you? Are you injured?
T.S.:	No.
Operator:	You're not injured? Okay. And you didn't know this person, right?
T.S.:	No, I didn't see his face.
Operator:	Okay. Were you sleeping, or how did this happen?
T.S.:	I was sleeping in my bed.
Operator:	Okay. You were sleeping and he came in and assaulted you?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	How old are you?
T.S.:	I'm seventeen.

Operator:	You're seventeen?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Just stay on the phone with me, okay?
T.S.:	Okay.
Operator:	Was his face covered or anything?
T.S.:	I don't know.
Operator:	Was his face covered?
T.S.:	I don't know. I could not see him.
Operator:	Okay. He covered your face?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Where did he come in through, do you know?
Operator: T.S.:	•••
T.S.:	know?
T.S.: Operator:	know? No.
T.S.: Operator:	know? No. Did he say anything to you? He told me he would hurt me and my
T.S.: Operator: T.S.:	know?No.Did he say anything to you?He told me he would hurt me and my grandmother if I call the police.Okay. And he threatened to hurt your
T.S.: Operator: T.S.: Operator:	know?No.Did he say anything to you?He told me he would hurt me and my grandmother if I call the police.Okay. And he threatened to hurt your grandmother if you call the police?

Operator:	He went out the door?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Did you hear a car leave?
T.S.:	No.
Operator:	He left through the front door?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Okay. Was the front door broken or anything?
T.S.:	No.
Operator:	No?
T.S.:	It was locked.
Operator:	The front door was locked?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Just stay on the phone with me, okay? How long did this last for?
T.S.:	I don't know.
Operator:	Was he armed? Did he have any weapons?
T.S.:	I don't know.
Operator:	Okay. We got the police outside, okay? I'm going to stay on the phone until you've made contact with them, okay?
T.S.:	Okay.

Operator:	Did you hear a car leave or anything?
T.S.:	No.
Operator:	No car? Okay. Does your grandmother live there with you?
T.S.:	Yes.
Operator:	Okay. Go ahead and open the door. That's the officer. All right. Go ahead and speak with them [T.S.], okay?
T.S.:	Okay.
Operator:	Bye-bye.

R-300-05.

T.S. Makes Conflicting Statements To The Police. Officer Steven Mooney responded to T.S.'s 911 call. R-437. When Officer Mooney first encountered T.S., she was crying, shaking, R-440, 443, and covering herself with a blanket, R-443. In questioning T.S., Officer Mooney noted the importance of determining "whether its [sic] a true rape or not because people do lie." R-440. Officer Mooney testified that T.S. first told him that the intruder brought her into the bathroom and "sexually raped her while in the shower." R-440-41. The officer noted that T.S. then "clarified" her story. R-444. T.S. later claimed that there was only one assault, and it occurred in the bedroom. R-440-41.

Inside the bedroom, Officer Mooney found no signs of a struggle. R-442. The officer further noted that T.S. claimed not to have seen the man's face, although she mentioned the names "Bob" or "Bobby." *Id.* She did not, however, identify this person. R-442-43, 446. T.S. told Officer Mooney that the intruder entered her home through her bedroom window or the front door. R-445. Upon arrival, however, the officer walked the home's perimeter and did not see any evidence of forced entry. R-437-38, 445. The officer found no broken windows, no pry marks, nothing that would indicate the use of excessive force to gain entry into T.S.'s home. R-445. Officer Mooney also did not observe any pry marks on the door. *Id.*

T.S. Lies To A Detective And Her Doctor. After her initial conversation with Officer Mooney, T.S. travelled separately with her mother to the hospital where she underwent a physical examination and gave another statement to the police. R-306. At the hospital, T.S. met with Detective Lori Colombino. R-373.

When asked whether she had sex with anyone else, Detective Colombino testified that T.S. said no. R-376. After the detective explained the importance of being truthful, T.S. confirmed that she did have sex with her boyfriend. R-376, 389. Nevertheless, T.S. still lied, telling the detective that their last sexual encounter occurred a month earlier. *Id.* According to the detective, T.S. told her that she was afraid her mother would find out she was having sex with her boyfriend. R-376. T.S. made a similar misrepresentation to the emergency room physician who examined her at the hospital. R-263.

T.S. did not dispute that she lied to the detective and her doctor. Indeed, T.S. admitted that she was not truthful when she denied having sex before her encounter with Mr. Akien, as well as when she stated that her last sexual encounter occurred a month prior to that encounter. R-307. The only consistent statement from T.S. on this point was the fact that she did not want her mother to find out about her sexual activity. *Id*.

T.S. Identifies Mr. Akien. In speaking to Detective Colombino, T.S. claimed that her neighbor, Mr. Akien, might be the culprit. R-308, 378. To back up her suspicion, T.S. noted that the intruder smelled like cigarette smoke. R-308, 378, 386. According to T.S., she had previously seen Mr. Akien smoking. R-309. T.S. further advised the detective that the intruder made some comments to her that suggested his identity. R-378. T.S. explained that the intruder's statement that he would leave her house keys on the washer/dryer outside her home led her to believe that Mr. Akien was responsible. R-338-39, 378. Apparently, not everyone in the neighborhood knew that T.S. owned these appliances. R-338-39. Finally, T.S. cited Mr. Akien's "passes" as further proof that he was the intruder. R-339.

The Physical Evidence. Although T.S. claimed that the intruder forcibly restrained her, choked her, and vaginally penetrated her for a period of thirty to forty-five minutes, she suffered no physical injuries. Dr. Elise Zahn examined T.S. at the hospital. R-255. Although T.S. complained of pain, R-256, Dr. Zahn's

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