IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1837

BOBBY LEE AIKEN

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar Number 0656879

LAURA FISHER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0337020 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 laura.fisher@myfloridalegal.co

m

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE JURISDICTION AS THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY DESCISION OF THIS COURT OR ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT. ON THE MERITS, THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF THE 911 TAPE UNDER THE EXITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO HEARSAY. ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS AS THERE IS REASONABLE POSSIBILITY THAT THE EVIDENCE CONTRIBUTED TO THE CONVICTION.

Respondent maintains that this Court does not have jurisdiction, under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(iv), as the Fourth District's opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law. On the merits, Respondent argues that the Fourth District did not abuse its discretion when it affirmed the trial court's admission of the victim's call to 911, under the exited utterance exception to hearsay. Further, as the district court found, even if the admission of the evidence was found to have been error, it was harmless as there was no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction, at it corroborated the victim's own trial testimony.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE JURISDICTION AS THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY DESCISION OF THIS COURT OR ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT. ON THE MERITS, THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF THE 911 TAPE UNDER THE EXITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO HEARSAY. ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS AS THERE IS REASONABLE POSSIBILITY THAT THE EVIDENCE CONTRIBUTED TO THE CONVICTION.

Respondent maintains that this Court does not have jurisdiction, under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(iv), as the Fourth District's opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law. On the merits, Respondent argues that the Fourth District did not abuse its discretion when it affirmed the trial court's admission of the victim's call to 911, under the exited utterance exception to hearsay. Further, as the district court found, even if the admission of the 911 tape was found to have been error, it was harmless as there was no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction, at it corroborated the victim's own trial testimony.

Standard of Review

The "excited utterance" exception to the hearsay rule allows the admission of a hearsay statement "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." § 90.803(2), Florida Statute (2010). "[T]here must be "an event startling

enough to cause nervous excitement," "the statement must have been made before there was time to contrive or misrepresent," and "the statement must be made while the person is under the stress of excitement caused by the event." <u>State v. Jano</u>, 524 So.2d 660,661(Fla.1988).

The statement must have been made before there was time for reflective thought, as the absence of time to contrive the facts, ensures the reliability for such statements. Hayward v. State, 24 So.3d 17, 29 (Fla.2009). The exact amount of time between the event and the statement which will justify a finding that the declarant engaged in "reflective thought" will depend on the specific facts of each case and may vary substantially between cases. See, e.g., Henyard v. State, 689 So.2d 239 (Fla.1996). Although the court will consider the time interval between the "startling event" and the statement, no fixed amount of time has been set, as this is subjective that depends on the circumstances of each case. Rogers v. State, 660 So.2d 237, 240 (Fla.1995); State v. Jano, 524 So.2d 660, 661 (Fla.1988)."Factors that the trial judge can consider in determining whether the necessary state of stress or excitement is present are the age of the declarant, the physical and mental condition of the declarant, the characteristics of the event and the subject matter of the statements." Hayward, 24 So.3d at 29 (quoting Hudson v. State, 992 So.2d 96, 108 (Fla.2008)).

Merits

The Respondent argues that the Fourth District applied the analysis established by this Court, when it affirmed the trial court's admission of the victim's statement under the exited utterance exception to hearsay, over defense objection. In case factually similar to the case at bar, this Court, held in <u>Rogers</u> <u>v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 237 (Fla.1995) that a statement given eight to ten minutes after the shooting was admissible as an exited utterance. This Court reasoned that although there was "conceivably" time to engage in reflective thought, the record indicated the declarant was "hysterical," and remained "very excited," and never calmed down as she recounted the event. <u>Id</u>. at 240. Likewise, in the case at bar, Fourth District reasoned,

While the victim may have had an opportunity to engage in reflective thought, we cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the introduction of the 911 tape. The record does not clearly refute the contention that the victim spoke to the 911 operator "under the stress of excitement caused by" her rape. As "reasonable men could differ as to the propriety" of the admission of the phone call, we affirm the trial court's ruling. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla.1980).

Aiken v. State, 44 So. 3^{rd} 152 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2010).

In the case at bar, the State presented evidence that the victim did not engage in reflective thought in the short period between Appellant exiting her home and her call to 911. T.S., the seventeen year old victim, testified that she was awakened

around 4:00 am, when she felt a gloved hand on her neck. (T. 282). Petitioner held her down and covered her face with a blanket. When she tried to resist, he threatened to kill her, so she stopped fighting. (T. 280-286). He told her there were two other men in her house. (T. 284). After committing a brutal sexual battery which lasted approximately 45 minutes, Petitioner made her shower and write a letter stating that she consented to sex. (T285-294). He took her keys and warned that if she told anyone, he would hurt her, her mother and her grandmother. (T.294-6).

When Petitioner left, she locked the door and called her mother within 5 to 10 minutes. (T. 296). Her mother called the police and told her to call 911. (T.296). She did not call 911 immediately because she was afraid something might happen to her and because Appellant threatened her family. (T. 296-7).

Further, the recording of the 911 call demonstrated that the victim was extremely upset during the call. Initially the operator had difficulty understanding the victim, but apparently blurted out that she had been raped. (T. 299-301). The victim told the operator that the "rape" had just happened, and the rapist told her that there were two others. (T. 300-1). The operator heard a knock and the victim said that her grandmother came into the room. (T. 301). The victim stated that the perpetrator threatened to hurt her, her grandmother and her

mother if she called police. (T. 303). Officer Mooney arrived while the victim was still on the phone with the operator. He testified that when he arrived, the victim was hysterically crying and having difficulty telling him what happened. (T. 437-444).

Petitioner argues that the decisions of the Fourth District and from other District Courts conflict with the instant opinion in that they found statements were inadmissible as exited utterances. The Respondent argues the District Courts all apply this Courts analysis, which requires a subjective analysis of the facts and surrounding circumstances of each case. Respondent argues that the cases cited by Petitioner which found statements inadmissible under the exited utterance exception are factually distinguishable from the case at bar.

Fourth District

In <u>Beck v. State</u>, 937 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), more than an hour passed before declarant called police, and she called non emergency before calling 911 and spoke in a narrative form during the emergency call. The Beck Court found no record support for ruling the statement was admissible under exited utterance and the state failed to secure such a ruling from the trial court. <u>Id</u>. at 823. In <u>Mariano v. State</u>, 933 So. 2d 111,116 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), the Court found that the statement, made 30 to 90 minutes after the "startling event," was long enough for

reflective thought, noting that the fact that the declarant was upset at the time of her statement, alone, was insufficient to warrant admission of the statement. Id.

The time frame between the event and the 911 in the case at bar was less than ten minutes, significantly shorter than Beck and Mariano. Further, the victim here, did not call non emergency first, nor did she speak in a narrative. The state's evidence in the instant case established that the victim was still under the excitement of the startling evident and did not engage in reflective thought. Although the victim testified that she called her mother before calling 911, she did so because Petitioner threatened to kill her and harm her mother and grandmother if she told police. Further, the victim's voice and demeanor during the call shows that she was in an acute emotional state. When 911 answered, although her response was unintelligible, it is apparent that she blurted out that she had been raped, because the operator's response was, "do you know who raped you?" The victim's statement was in a narrative, but difficult to understand and follow. In order to learn more information, the operator had to ask follow up questions and the victim spontaneously stated that her attacker threatened to harm her family. Also, unlike Beck, the trial court in the instant case, overruled the defense objection, after hearing argument on whether the statement qualified for admission as an exited

utterance.

First District

In <u>Blandenberg v.</u> State, 890 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), the court found declarants statements were not admissible as exited utterances as they both expressed concern about whether the defendant, their mother, would be arrested, indicating that they had engaged in reflective thought. The court recognized that a speaker's ability to engage in reflective thought may be affected by the stress or excitement he or she endured during the event and therefore, a statement made well after the event may be deemed excited utterances. But "the common thread running through those cases ... is that at the time of the statement, the declarants were either 'hysterical,' severely injured, or subject to some other extreme emotional state sufficient to prevent reflective thought." Id. at 270 (and cases cited therein). In the case at bar, the victim endured a sexual battery which lasted nearly an hour and Petitioner threatened her life and to harm her family if she told police. The recording itself established the victim was in extreme emotional distress and continue to cry hysterically when the officer arrived and had difficulty telling him what happened.

Second District

In <u>J.A.S. v. State</u>, 920 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 2^{nd} DCA 2006), the Court held that a father's statement made to police at least 15

minutes after the event, did not qualify as an exited utterance because as an adult, even 15 minutes was enough time to engage in reflective thought. J.A.S.'s father was injured, but not severely. He was not hysterical, shaking, screaming, crying, or displaying any physical or mental signs of excitement. The deputy testimony that he was upset was a subjective observation did not prove that he had no time for reflective thought. Conversely, in the case at bar, the state presented evidence that the 17 year old victim was in acute mental distress throughout the relevant time interval and that she blurted out that she had been raped, but had difficulty imparting additional information about the events.

Third District

In <u>Strong v. State</u>, 947 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2007), the court found the victim's statement inadmissible as an exited utterance. The Court found that because the victim was in contact with paramedics and hospital personal and had spoken to the defendant during the four to five hour time interval between the event and the statement, she had time to engage in reflective thought. <u>Id</u>. at 555. Conversely, the time interval here was less than ten minutes and the 17 year old victim's brief call to her mother was limited to her mother calling the police and instructing the victim to call 911. Further, the victim's statement in the instant case was not inconsistent with her trial

testimony. However, the victim in <u>Strong</u>, died before trial commenced.

Fifth District

In <u>Pressley v. State</u>, 968 So. 2d 1039, 1041-2 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), the thirteen year old victim called her mother and told her she had to tell her something, but did not tell her mother about the crime until she arrived home 45 to 60 minutes later. The Court found that the declarant was no longer under the stress of the startling event, and therefore the statement was not admissible as an exited utterance. Again, the time interval in the instant case was under ten minutes and evidence that the victim remained under the stress of the event during at all relevant times was presented at trial.

Harmless Error

In the case at bar, the Fourth District held that even if they found that the admission of the tape to be error, it was harmless where the contents of the 911 recording merely corroborated the victim's trial testimony. Therefore, the was no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." See <u>State v. DiGuillio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1131 (Fla. 1986).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court